

Emily Sipiorski

Cocoa and International Law: Some Remarks on the Contradictions and Symmetry in the Role of Private Actors in Elevating and Unifying Standards

> Rechtswissenschaftliche Beiträge der Hamburger Sozialökonomie

> > Heft 40

Emily Sipiorski

Cocoa and International Law: Some Remarks on the Contradictions and Symmetry in the Role of Private Actors in Elevating and Unifying Standards

Rechtswissenschaftliche Beiträge der Hamburger Sozialökonomie **Dr. Emily Sipiorski** is a senior researcher and lecturer in the Department of Law at the School of Socio-Economics, University of Hamburg. She is also an affiliated researcher at the Centre for Research and Development on Law and Society (CEDIS) at the Faculty of Law, NOVA University, Lisbon.

Impressum

Kai-Oliver Knops, Marita Körner, Karsten Nowrot (Hrsg.) Rechtswissenschaftliche Beiträge der Hamburger Sozialökonomie

Emily Sipiorski

Cocoa and International Law: Some Remarks on the Contradictions and Symmetry in the Role of Private Actors in Elevating and Unifying Standards

Heft 40, September 2020

Bibliografische Information der Deutschen Bibliothek Die Deutsche Bibliothek verzeichnet diese Publikations in der Deutschen Nationalbibliografie; detaillierte bibliografische Daten sind im Internet unter http://dnb.dnb.de abrufbar. ISSN 2366-0260 (print) ISSN 2365-4112 (online)

Reihengestaltung: Ina Kwon

Produktion: UHH Druckerei, Hamburg

Schutzgebühr: Euro 5,-

Die Hefte der Schriftenreihe "Rechtswissenschaftliche Beiträge der Hamburger Sozialökonomie" finden sich zum Download auf der Website des Fachgebiets Rechtswissenschaft am Fachbereich Sozialökonomie unter der Adresse:

https://www.wiso.uni-hamburg.de/fachbereich-sozoek/professuren/koerner/fiwa/publikationsreihe.html

Fachgebiet Rechtswissenschaft Fachbereich Sozialökonomie Fakultät für Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften Universität Hamburg Von-Melle-Park 9 20146 Hamburg

Tel.: 040 / 42838 - 3521

E-Mail: Beate.Hartmann@uni-hamburg.de

Contents

A.	Introduction	5
В.	The Laws Regulating Cocoa Production	8
	I. International Law	
	II. Domestic Laws	11
	III. Regional Initiatives	13
	IV. Industry Initiatives	13
C.	Non-State Actors in International Legal Norms	14
	I. The Positive and Negative Roles of Other Actors	16
	II. Forms of Influence	16
D.	Global Public Interest as a Conceptual Foundation	18
	I. Private Actors in the Global Public Interest	20
	II. The Moral Implications of Private Influence	21
E.	Conclusion	22
Refe	erences	

A. Introduction

Cocoa, its attributes for the tongue are rarely contested¹ and its health benefits emerging,² occupies a less positive space in both history and the present regarding human rights and environmental practices.³ Colonialism was often motivated by such luxuries as diamonds,⁴ sugar,⁵ petroleum,⁶ as well as cocoa beans. In the past decades, the exposure of the use of child labour in the cocoa industry in West Africa¹ and deforestation³ linked to the expansion of plantations has resulted in efforts by governments to control the importation of cocoa products failing to respect environmental and human rights standards.⁵ Yet, abusive practices continue and soft law deadlines for eradication have been missed.¹⁰ While operating in the private sphere of international law, the conduct has affected the goals of the public sphere. It is in its ability to touch and impact the public sphere that the relevance of these private actors in the operation of the law becomes a more pressing issue.

Several decades ago, the labour practices of cocoa plantations in Côte d'Ivoire were exposed by an Ivorian newspaper. A British documentary on the labour practices in Burkina Faso, Mali, and Togo followed. It was alleged that children were being sold into slavery and trafficked from neighbouring countries to work on the plantations. Government officials in Côte d'Ivoire indicated that the cocoa industry was in part responsible as the prices were kept too low and prevented Ivorians from earning an adequate wage. The responses to the labour crisis take only in part the complex economic reality of Western Africa into account, where

- 1 Albers, Psychology Today, 11 February 2014, available under: < https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/com-fort-cravings/201402/why-do-we-crave-chocolate-so-much > (last accessed 10 September 2020); Whittemore, The Manual, 14 May 2019, available under: < https://www.themanual.com/food-and-drink/science-of-chocolate-why-it-tastes-good/ > (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- van Wensem, Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management 11 (2015), 176 (177); Latif, Netherlands Journal of Medicine 71 (2013), 63; Nurk, et al., Journal of Nutrition 139 (2009), 120 (121).
- 3 *Hinch*, in: Gray/Hinch (eds.), A Handbook of Food Crime, 77 (78) (historically tracing cocoa production in the Americas and slave labour: "Its ascendency as one of the world's favourite food treats coincided with an increase in the use of slave labour, as well as a major change in the source of slave labour.").
- 4 D'Angelo, Historical Research 89 (2016), 136 (139 et seq.); le Billon, African Affairs 100 (2001), 55 (56).
- 5 Stack/Ackrill/Bliss, European Review of Agricultural Economics 46 (2019), 79 (79); Mahler, International Organization 35 (1981), 467; Mintz, Sweetness and Power: The Place of Sugar in Modern History; Mitchell, World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 322 (2004).
- 6 D'Angelo, Historical Research 89 (2016), 136 (139 et seq.); le Billon, African Affairs 100 (2001), 55 (56).
- 7 Fair Trade Foundation, Commodity Briefing (August 2011), Fairtrade and Cocoa, available under: < https://curtisre-search.org/wp-content/uploads/Cocoa-Briefing-FINAL-8Sept11.pdf > (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- Vivid Economics, State and Trends of Deforestation in Côte d'Ivoire (2019-2020), July 2020, available under: < https://www.vivideconomics.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/State-and-Trends-of-Deforestation-in-CdI-1.pdf > (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- 9 Vivid Economics, State and Trends of Deforestation in Côte d'Ivoire (2019-2020), July 2020, available under: https://www.vivideconomics.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/State-and-Trends-of-Deforestation-in-CdI-1.pdf (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- 10 *Hinch*, in: A Handbook of Food Crime, 77 (77) (critically indicating that "governments often collaborate with the cocoa industry to create and perpetuate these [child labour and forced labour] abuses. This collaboration creates illusory restrictions on forced labour that allow slavery to persist."); *Whoriskey/Siegel*, The Washington Post, 5 June 2019, available under: < https://www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/2019/business/hershey-nestle-mars-chocolate-child-labor-west-africa/ > (last accessed 10 September 2020) ("The world's chocolate companies have missed deadlines to uproot child labor from their cocoa supply chains in 2005, 2008 and 2010. Next year [2020], they face another target date and, industry officials indicate, they probably will miss that, too.").
- 11 Schrage/Ewing, The Journal of Corporate Citizenship, 99 (100).
- 12 Schrage/Ewing, The Journal of Corporate Citizenship, 99 (100) (further indicating that "[a]ccording to subsequent media account, children as young as six years old were forced to work 80-100 hour weeks without pay, suffered from malnutrition, and were subject to beatings and other abuse.").
- 13 Schrage/Ewing, The Journal of Corporate Citizenship, 99 (100).
- 14 Schrage/Ewing, The Journal of Corporate Citizenship, 99 (100).

children often have a role in contributing to family income;¹⁵ and thereby the practices expose the additional layer to the systemic problem of child labour which may require both education and development to eradicate. The use of child labour—and subsequently the need to regulate it—is a widespread practice in industrializing states.¹⁶ The implementation of laws banning the practice, alongside laws making education compulsory, have often resulted in the elimination of the practice.¹⁷

In the past year, the cocoa industry has called upon the European Union (EU) to draft legislation making the companies responsible for abuses of human rights and the environment in the supply chain. This initiative runs in parallel with the intention by the European Commission to enact due diligence standards in the supply chain for products sold in the EU. 19 This initiative falls in line with an on-going industry-wide reassessment of its labour and environmental practices. The cocoa industry, largely limited to five main companies, allows for a unified and forward movement in objectives that may not be otherwise possible. Thus, the dark history may prove to be a motivation to construct a new present for international law more generally—namely, using it as a model for cooperation among various actors as a means of achieving integrated public interests arising out of international legal instruments, and more specifically, extra-territorial public interest.

These regional, EU-based efforts, however, sit in incongruence with legal developments in the United States. A lawsuit brought on behalf of former child slaves has journeyed through the

- 15 Basu, Journal of Economic Literature 37 (1999), 1083 (1115) (in a general sense, cautioning against complete restriction of child labor as "there are worse things that can happen to children than having to work.").
- 16 Basu, Journal of Economic Literature 37 (1999), 1083 (1088 et seq.).
- Brown/Christiansen/Philips, Business History Review 66 (1992), 723; Bolin-Hort, Work, Family, and the State: Child Labor and the Organization of Production in the British Cotton Industry, 1780-1920; Weiner, The Child and the State in India: Child Labor and Education Policy in Comparative Perspective; Basu, Journal of Economic Literature 37 (1999), 1083 (1116) ("In general, it is better to take economy-wide measures against child labor and, if there is to be a sector-specific ban, this should be based on the working conditions of that sector, rather than the destinations of the goods. This reservation carries over to certain kinds of international action, such as the imposition of minimal labor standards as a prerequisite for trade, since this results in the maintenance of standards only in the exports sector."). Convention No. 182 on the Worse Forms of Child Labour (1999), adopted 21 years ago, recently received universal ratification, and directs attention at this specific interest in education. The Preamble of Convention 182 provides that "Considering that the effective elimination of the worst forms of child labour requires immediate and comprehensive action, taking into account the importance of free basic education and the need to remove the children concerned from all such work and to provide for their rehabilitation and social integration while addressing the needs of their families."
- VOICE Network, Cocoa companies call for human rights and environmental due diligence requirements, 2 December 2019, available under: https://www.voicenetwork.eu/2019/12/cocoa-companies-call-for-human-rights-and-environmental-due-diligence-requirements/ (last accessed 10 September 2020); Whoriskey, The Washington Post, 31 December 2019, available under: https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2019/12/31/chocolate-companies-ask-taste-government-regulation/ (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- 19 Smit, et al., Study on Due Diligence Requirements through the Supply Chain, January 2020, available under: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/8ba0a8fd-4c83-11ea-b8b7-01aa75ed71a1/language-en (last accessed 10 September 2020); Martin-Ortega/Methven O'Brien, EJIL:Talk!, 1 September 2020, available under (last accessed 10 September 2020); European Commission for Corporate Justice, Commissioner Reynders Announces EU Corporate Due Diligence Legislation, 30 April 2020, available under: https://corporatejustice.org/news/16806-commissioner-reynders-announces-eu-corporate-due-diligence-legislation > (last accessed 10 September 2020) (indicating that "the EU Commissioner for Justice, Didier Reynders, committed to a legislative initiative on mandatory human rights and environmental due diligence obligations for EU companies in early 2021, which will include liability and enforcement mechanisms and access to remedy provisions for victims of corporate abuse."); Krajewski, et al., Briefings: Human Rights Due Diligence Legislation Options for the EU, June 2020, available under: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2020/603495/EXPO_BRI(2020)603495_EN.pdf (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- 20 Schrage/Ewing, The Journal of Corporate Citizenship 18 (2005), 99 (100).
- Oxfam, Towards a sustainable cocoa chain: Power and possibilities within the cocoa and chocolate sector, 2009, 15 and 18, available under: < https://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/towards-a-sustainable-cocoa-chain-power-and-possibilities-within-the-cocoa-and-112341 > (last accessed 10 September 2020).

courts and was recently granted *certiorari* by the U.S. Supreme Court. This claim was brought before the U.S. Courts against several cocoa companies.²² Grounded on the Alien Tort Statute (ATS), the dispute approaches the broader question of corporate responsibility under international law, and more specifically their liability before U.S. Courts for human rights violations.

The following paper uses the cocoa industry as a lens by which to observe the growing influence of the private sector in encouraging (or discouraging) emerging standards of conduct and public interests in an integrated manner in international normative frameworks. The first section (B) explores the complex web of international standards as well as regional and domestic laws that have been implemented in response to the exposure of inadequate labour standards (and to some extent, environmental standards) in the production of cocoa products. The next section (C) discusses the impacts of these private actors on the international legal sphere, and in that respect, approaches the systemic integrative potential created by economic actors in the international public space. The final section (D) approaches the moral and practical implications of private engagement in the implementation of standards within international law.

B. The Laws Regulating Cocoa Production

I. International Law

The response to the exposure of child labour in the cocoa industry has been, to a large extent, a cooperative effort between states, organizations, and the industry. In the initial response to the exposure of child labour in the cocoa industry, and in recognition of the territorial limits of domestic legislation, the Western African states involved in cocoa production were motivated to draft a legal framework to combat slavery and forced labour. A Declaration and Plan of Action against Trafficking in Persons was adopted in December 2001 by the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS).²³ This declaration built on several international conventions and declarations on the prevention of slavery, child labour, and trafficking: including, the Universal Declaration on Human Rights,²⁴ the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, and the International Labour Organization Convention (ILO) 182 on the Worst Forms of Child Labour.²⁵ The African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child provided further guidance in the scope of the declaration, particularly its provisions on child labour, protection against child abuse and torture, and on trafficking.²⁶ This ECOWAS declaration criminalised trafficking and called on member states to implement measures "provid[ing] for the protection and physical, psychological and social recovery of victims of trafficking through affording them the full protection of their physical safety, privacy, and human rights"²⁷, cooperate with respect to border controls,²⁸ and implement national task forces.²⁹ The declaration also called upon all member states to ratify the international legal instruments combatting trafficking. The Preamble provides in part, "that effective action to prevent and combat trafficking in persons requires a comprehensive international approach in the countries of origin, transit, and destination that includes measure to prevent trafficking, as well as protecting their internationally recognized human rights". 30 In this sense, the declaration emphasized the requirements for cooperation in achieving the goals towards eliminating the use of child and forced labour in the cocoa industry.³¹

Along similar lines, but created in the states of consumption rather than harvesting production, the Harkin-Engel Protocol, an international public-private agreement negotiated by two U.S. politicians, was enacted in 2001 with the promise that by 2005, "the worst forms of child labour" would be eradicated from supply chains, pursuant to the International Labour

- 23 ECOWAS, Declaration on the Fight Against Trafficking in Persons (12 December 2001).
- ECOWAS, Declaration on the Fight Against Trafficking in Persons (12 December 2001); Universal Declaration of Human Rights, General Assembly Resolution 217 A (III), Article 4 ("No one shall be held in slavery or servitude; slavery and the slave trade shall be prohibited in all their forms").
- 25 Convention 182 concentrates on the most harmful of activities, including slavery, prostitution, and trafficking of drugs. Article 3 of Convention 182 defines "the worst forms of child labour": including inter alia "(a) all forms of slavery or practices similar to slavery, such as the sale and trafficking of children, debt bondage and serfdom and forced or compulsory labour, including forced or compulsory recruitment of children for use in armed conflict; [...] (d) work which, by its nature or the circumstances in which it is carried out, is likely to harm the health, safety or morals of children."
- 26 African Charter on the Rights and Welfare of the Child (1999).
- 27 ECOWAS, Declaration on the Fight Against Trafficking in Persons (12 December 2001), para. 7.
- 28 ECOWAS, Declaration on the Fight Against Trafficking in Persons (12 December 2001), para. 12.
- 29 ECOWAS, Declaration on the Fight Against Trafficking in Persons (12 December 2001), para. 18.
- 30 ECOWAS, Declaration on the Fight Against Trafficking in Persons (12 December 2001), Preamble.
- ECOWAS, Declaration on the Fight Against Trafficking in Persons (12 December 2001), para. 6 (providing for the "care and repatriation" of citizens who had become trafficking victims).

Organization (ILO) Conventions 182 and 29.³² While non-binding, the protocol gave an opportunity to the industry to regulate, and provided for the creation of advisory groups and public statements on the specific issue of forced and child labour. The protocol particularly reflected the use of coerced or compelled labour in the private economy, and attempted to draw a line between these international state-based obligations and the actions of private actors in the market—thus, attempting to create an indirect respect for international human rights frameworks in order to have access to the market. As a voluntary agreement that included governments, industry, producers, laborers, and non-governmental organizations, the approach to ending the abuses was a series of dates by which the practices were to be eradicated.³³ There were no legal obligations contained in the agreement; the deadlines were not met.

Building on the Harkin-Engel Protocol as a public-private partnership, the Child Labour Cocoa Coordinating Group, including the governments of Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana in addition to representatives from the industry aimed to address the issue of child labour.³⁴ The U.S. International Labor Affairs Bureau has responded with a series of projects, including the mobilization of community action and coordination with the ECOWAS effort at reducing the use of child labour and trafficked individuals in the production of cocoa.³⁵

Moreover, as a voluntary mechanism, industry-specific coordination is organized by the International Cocoa Organization (ICCO). The United Nations Cocoa Conference, made up of Member States from either importing or exporting states, last convened in 2010 for the purpose of drafting the International Cocoa Agreement.³⁶ The Agreement provides in the preamble: "Recognizing the contribution of the cocoa sector to poverty alleviation and the achievement of the internationally agreed development goals, including the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs); Recognizing the importance of cocoa and the cocoa trade for the economies of developing countries [...] Recognizing the need to ensure the transparency of the international cocoa market, for the benefit of both producers and consumers [...]".³⁷ The agreement defines "a sustainable cocoa economy" as "an integrated value chain in which all stakeholders develop and promote appropriate policies to achieve levels of production, processing and consumption that are economically viable, environmentally sound, and socially responsible for the benefit of present and future generations, with the aim of improving productivity and profitability in the cocoa value chain for all stakeholders concerned, in particular for the small holder producers."

The specific reference to Convention 29 in the Harkin-Engel Protocol exposes limitations in the ILO initiatives. The continued use of forced labour practices within the cocoa industry epitomizes a global failure to accelerate the elimination of such practices. Despite its

- Convention No. 182 on the Worse Forms of Child Labour (1999); Convention No. 29, Article 1 indicates the intention of the Convention, namely that Members "undertake[] to suppress the use of forced or compulsory labour in all its forms within the shortest possible period." See also, *Anton*, International Legal Materials 53 (2014), 1227 (1227) (noting the historical foundations of Convention 29 in colonial administrations and indicating that the "broad definition of forced labor has meant that the intertwined actions taken against slave or slavery-like practices like debt bondage, the human trafficking of 'sex slaves' and 'domestic servants,' and those imposed on migrants, have been viewed as either extensions or a normative merging.")
- 33 Whoriskey, The Washington Post, 31 December 2019, available under: < https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2019/12/31/chocolate-companies-ask-taste-government-regulation/ > (last accessed 6 August 2020).
- United States Bureau of International Labor Affairs, Child Labor in the Production of Cocoa, available under: < https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/our-work/child-forced-labor-trafficking/child-labor-cocoa > (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- United States Bureau of International Labor Affairs, Child Labor in the Production of Cocoa, available under: < https://www.dol.gov/agencies/ilab/our-work/child-forced-labor-trafficking/child-labor-cocoa > (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- 36 Khamsi, International Legal Materials 50 (2011), 669; United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, International Cocoa Agreement, 2010, TD/Cocoa.10/3.
- 37 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, International Cocoa Agreement, 2010, TD/Cocoa.10/3.

near-century existence as an international instrument, a comprehensive report by the International Labour Office in 2013 approached and examined the gaps in implementation of Convention 29.³⁸ This report resulted in the negotiation of a new protocol that recognizes the changes in forced labour since the initial adoption of the Convention (as well as Convention 105) and provides for the urgency of eliminating forced labour in the global workplace.

This issue of the cocoa industry also sits inside a larger human rights discussion on the control and regulation of child labour and trafficking.³⁹ The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child provides a framework for signatory states to protect and improve the rights of children.⁴⁰ As the majority of child labour takes place in the agricultural sector,⁴¹ cocoa exemplifies this reality. The prohibition of child labour, in general, is further included in several treaties and conventions⁴² and would bear general relevance over the issue of labour in the cocoa industry. In 1998, the ILO adopted the Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, providing for the abolition of child labour.⁴³ The Convention on the Worst Forms of Child Labour was adopted in 1999, and further work was accomplished in the International Programme on the Elimination of Child Labour. In particular, the Convention the Rights of the Child, adopted in 1989, provided for the adopted of soft law instruments intended to regulate the practice, in addition to The Programme of Action for the Elimination of the Exploitation of Child Labour.⁴⁴

In addition to the labour standards and more specific protocols aimed at eliminating violations in the production process, there are additional mechanisms under international law that impact the industry. From the perspective of international trade law, for example, the use of Sanitary and Phytosanitary measures can impact the trade of products.⁴⁵ Moreover, and not directly dealt with in the above commitments, the issue of deforestation and its relevance to cocoa production requires additional domestic commitments despite the international mechanisms available.⁴⁶

- 38 Anton, International Legal Materials 53 (2014), 1227 (1228).
- See, amongst many other, *Ehrenberg*, Yale Journal of International Law 20 (1995), 361 (403) (categorizing child labour as an illegal trade subsidy and recommending regulation under the WTO as an unfair comparative trade advantage); *Chuang*, Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies 13 (2006), 137 (163) (indicating that the socio-economic causes of trafficking of children for labour need to be addressed to develop a more effective response); *Giampetro-Meyer/Brown/Kubasek*, Loyola of Los Angeles International and Comparative Law Review 16 (1994), 657 (674) ("Despite the ILO's emphasis on abolishing harmful child labor, this problem remains pervasive in both industrialized and developing nations. Often, as an undeveloped nation becomes more industrialized and affluent, the number of children working out of necessity may diminish, only to be replaced by another equally harmful form of child labor—children who choose to work to obtain extra income").
- 40 Convention on the Rights of the Child, G.A. Resolution 44/24, especially Article 4 ("States Parties shall undertake all appropriate legislative, administrative, and other measures for the implementation of the rights recognized in the present Convention. With regard to economic, social and cultural rights, States Parties shall undertake such measures to the maximum extent of their available resources and, where needed, within the framework of international co-operation.").
- 41 United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization, Framework on Ending Child Labour in Agriculture, 2020, xiii, available under: < http://www.fao.org/3/ca9502en/CA9502EN.pdf > (last accessed 10 September 2020); *Baradaran/Barclay*, Columbia Human Rights Law Review 43 (2011), 1 (9 et seq.).
- 42 See generally, *Humbert*, The Challenge of Child Labour in International Law, 1 et seq.
- 43 International Labour Conference, eighty-sixth session, Geneva 1998.
- 44 UN Commission on Human Rights, forty-ninth session, 10 March 1993, E/CN.4/1993/79. See also, UN General Assembly, A World Fit for Children, Preparatory Committee for the Special Session of the General Assembly on Children, third substantive session, 7 June 2001, A/AC.256/CRP/Rev.3 (Part I).
- Analogies can be drawn to dolphin-safe tuna litigation in trade law. See for example, *United States—Measures Concerning the Importation, Marketing and Sale of Tuna and Tuna Products*, DS381, Appellate Body Report (16 May 2012) (trade dispute brought by Mexico regarding United States Code 16 § 1385 and the Code of Federal Regulations 50 §§ 216.91 and 216.92); *United States—Restrictions on Imports of Tuna* (not adopted, circulated on 3 September 1991) (trade dispute regarding United States Marine Mammal Protection Act that prohibited importation of fish from countries and intermediary countries not meeting dolphin protection standards).
- 46 See for example, Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (12 December 2015), United Nations Publication No. 54113, Article 5 (providing that "parties should take action to conserve

II. Domestic Laws

Domestic laws—including in particular the domestic implementation of international labour and environmental standards—remain the most relevant in the production, trade, and sale of chocolate. In the United States, a legislative amendment to an agriculture bill intended to allocate certain money for the use of a label on cocoa products, designating that the product had not been produced with child labour.⁴⁷ This 2001 effort, while accepted by the lower house, was never introduced in the U.S. Senate, in part because of the coordinated effort to enact the international Harkin-Engel protocol.⁴⁸ More recently, the Trade Facilitation and Trade Enforcement Act of 2015⁴⁹ prohibits the importation of products made using child labour, as well as forced labour more generally.⁵⁰

The enactment of these standards has proven thorny, with compliance gaps prevalent. Other means have been located by non-governmental organizations working on labour issues—particularly forced labour—to elevate the activities of the cocoa companies. In this respect, a lawsuit was brought by International Rights Advocates, a U.S.-based non-profit to the U.S. Courts under the ATS, on behalf of six children who worked as slaves on cocoa plantations in Côte d'Ivoire.⁵¹ The circuit court dismissed the claim,⁵² after which the Ninth Circuit vacated the dismal⁵³ and provided a revised opinion,⁵⁴ and further denied en banc review.⁵⁵ The current interpretation of the ATS by the U.S. Supreme Court prohibits corporate liability, instead providing that its purpose is directed at individuals.⁵⁶ Now granted certiorari by the Supreme

- and enhance [...] forests."); United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (9 May 1992), 1771 United Nations Treaty Series 107. See also, *Bendel*, EJIL:Talk!, 6 December 2019, available under: < https://www.ejiltalk.org/bringing-deforestation-before-an-international-court/ > (last accessed 10 September 2020) (indicating the many jurisdictional and substantive hurdles to regulating deforestation at an international law).
- 47 House Amendment 142 to Public Law 107-76, FY2002 Agriculture, Rural Development and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Appropriations.
- 48 Congressional Research Service, Child Labor in West African Cocoa Production: Issues and U.S. Policy, 13 July 2005, available under: < http://www.nationalaglawcenter.org/assets/crs/RL32990.pdf > (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- 49 Public Law 114-125, 24 February 2016.
- See also 19 U.S.C. § 1307 ("All goods, wares, articles, and merchandise mined, produced, or manufactured wholly or in part in any foreign country by convict labor or/and forced labor or/and indentured labor under penal sanctions shall not be entitled to entry at any of the ports of the United States, and the importation thereof is hereby prohibited[...]"). In the United States, cocoa imports are regulated by Customs and Border Protection, the Food and Drug Administration, and the Customs and Border Protection Department of Agriculture. U.S. Senators have separately called upon the Department of Homeland Security to enforce the relevant restrictions on importation. See Letter to the Acting Secretary of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security Kevin McAleenan from U.S. Senators Sherrod Brown and Ron Wyden, dated 12 July 2019, available under: https://www.brown.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/BrownWydenMcAleenanLetter-CocoaImportsJuly122019.pdf (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- A writ of certiorari was granted by the United States Supreme Court to hear the consolidated disputes *Nestlé USA*, *Inc. v. Doe I*, 766 F.3d 1013 and *Cargill, Inc. v. Doe I*, 2 July 2020 (petition for writ of certiorari available under: < https://www.supremecourt.gov/DocketPDF/19/19-416/116977/20190925125724473_Nestle%20Cert%20Petition%20 9.25%20Final.pdf >). See also *Balch*, The Guardian, 5 August 2020, available under: < https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2020/aug/05/us-could-become-safe-haven-for-corporate-abusers-activists-warn > (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- 52 Nestlé USA, Inc. v. Doe I, 748 F. Supp. 2d 1057.
- 53 Nestlé USA, Inc. v. Doe I, 738 F.3d 1048.
- 54 Nestlé USA, Inc. v. Doe I, 766 F.3d 1013.
- 55 Nestlé USA, Inc. v. Doe I, 788 F.3d 946.
- 56 Jesner et al. v. Arab Bank, PLC, 584 US _____ (2018), 29 (limiting application of the ATS and holding in the majority that "judicial deference requires that any imposition of corporate liability on foreign corporations for violations of international law must be determined in the first instance by the political branches of the Government."); Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co., 569 US 108 (2013), 124; Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co, 621 F. 3d 120 (holding that the ATS does not apply to corporations, basing the decision in part on the jurisdictional limitations imposed by international criminal tribunals to natural persons). See also, Filartiga v. Pena-Irala, 630 F. 2d 876 (1980) (providing the first modern case of ATS application towards a private individual and thereby establishing the basis for future use, including

Court, the interest in the dispute centres on the Court's decision regarding corporate liability under the ATS.⁵⁷ The U.S. Supreme Court will take the decision on the territorial scope of the law, considering specifically two questions: "1. Whether an aiding and abetting claim against a domestic corporation brought under the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350, may overcome the extraterritoriality bar where the claim is based on allegations of general corporate activity in the United States and where plaintiffs cannot trace the alleged harms, which occurred abroad at the hands of unidentified foreign actors, to that activity. 2. Whether the Judiciary has the authority under the Alien Tort Statute to impose liability on domestic corporations."⁵⁸

The issues in dispute lay bare corporate liability in the international sphere. In recognition of the importance of this dispute to corporate interests, the Coca-Cola Company, amongst others, submitted an *amicus* intervention in the dispute.⁵⁹ Arguing against the liability of corporations under the ATS, the *amicus* provides in part, "[o]f all the relevant international law sources—including the Nuremberg trials, the ad hoc tribunals for the former Yugoslavia and Rwanda, and the Rome Statute—not a single one extends the international law obligations expressed therein to corporations, nor is there any other evidence of a consensus among nations that such an extension would be appropriate."

Recent cases out of the U.S. Supreme Court have limited the liability with regard to torts "committed in violation of the law of nations or a treaty of the United States." In particular, the 2018 decision in *Jesner v. Arab Bank* determined that it was beyond the intent of the legislature to include corporations within the jurisdiction of the Alien Tort Statute. ⁶² This decision followed the earlier *Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum* precedent in which the court held that the ATS does not extend to foreign corporations when all the relevant acts took place outside the United States. ⁶³ In the *Jesner* dissent, written by Justice Sotomayor and joined by three other justices, she considered that there was no basis for excluding foreign corporations from the scope of the Statute: "[n]othing about the corporate form in itself raises foreign-policy concerns that require the Court, as a matter of common-law discretion, to immunize all foreign corporations from liability under the ATS, regardless of the specific law-of-nations violations alleged." The *Nestlé v. Doe I* dispute will therefore approach these issues from another angle, and hold the potential to further limit the jurisdictional scope under the ATS.

- its potential application toward corporate defendants).
- 57 Ku, Virginia Journal of International Law 51 (2011), 353.
- 58 Consolidated disputes *Nestlé USA, Inc. v. Doe I*, 766 F.3d 1013 and *Cargill, Inc. v. Doe I*, 2 July 2020 (writ of certiorari granted by U.S. Supreme Court on 2 July 2020).
- 59 See in particular, amicus curiae submission filed by the Coca-Cola Company on 28 October 2019, available under: https://www.supremecourt.gov/DocketPDF/19/19-416/120404/20191028103856596_19-416%2019-453acCoca%20-Cola%20Company.pdf (last accessed 6 August 2020).
- 60 Coca-Cola Company, Amicus Curiae in Consolidated disputes *Nestlé USA, Inc. v. Doe I*, 766 F.3d 1013 and *Cargill, Inc. v. Doe I*, filed on 28 October 2019, available under: < https://www.supremecourt.gov/Docket-PDF/19/19-416/120404/20191028103856596_19-416%2019-453acCoca%20-Cola%20Company.pdf > (last accessed 6 August 2020).
- 61 Alien Tort Statute, 28 USC § 1350.
- 62 Jesner et al v Arab Bank, PLC, 584 US (2018).
- 63 Kiobel v Royal Dutch Petroleum Co, 569 US 108 (2013), 124.
- 64 Jesner et al. v. Arab Bank, PLC, 584 US (2018), Dissent at 1.

III. Regional Initiatives

Current initiatives in the EU contrast the potential limitations on extra-territorial corporate liability in the U.S. case. The European Commission is currently pushing forward a legislative proposal that would enable the enforcement of human rights standards extraterritorially over European companies, and there is a simultaneous movement by private actors to enact similar standards of behaviour by economic actors in the supply chain. The narrative from the industry may not be entirely pure—likely highly impacted by concerns for profitability as well as a desire to harness greater authority over attempts to control practices. Yet, the attempts to motivate and enact standards where the industry itself is limited demonstrates a cooperative role of economic actors in the recognition of international legal norms.

In a position paper on the EU's policy and regulatory approach to cocoa, key players in the industry recommended the implementation of due diligence standards in the supply chain for the cocoa industry. The document, supported by, amongst others, Fairtrade International, Mars Wrigley, and Mondelez International, provided that "As by far the largest importer and consumer of cocoa in the world – the majority of it from West Africa – the EU has a greater ability than any other consumer market to drive change in the cocoa sector, and a clear duty and opportunity to take responsibility and demonstrate leadership, including through legislative action to address these issues. Our ultimate aim is a fully sustainable cocoa supply chain that delivers living incomes to cocoa farmers and reduces and eventually eliminates human rights abuses, including child labour, and environmental degradation."

IV. Industry Initiatives

In addition to the more recent initiative to encourage the EU to enact due diligence requirements, with failed commitments under the Harkin-Engel Protocol, the companies responded by turning to non-profit groups to inspect plantations for human rights abuses through the use of child labour and deforestation practices. The non-profits—including Fairtrade, the Rainforest Alliance, and Utz—would provide the chocolate companies with certifications. These certifications were also exposed as falling short: farms continued to use child labour despite certifications.⁶⁷

- VOICE Network, Cocoa companies call for human rights and environmental due diligence requirements, 2 December 2019, available under: https://www.voicenetwork.eu/2019/12/cocoa-companies-call-for-human-rights-and-environ-mental-due-diligence-requirements/ (last accessed 10 September 2020); European Commission for Corporate Justice, Commissioner Reynders Announces EU Corporate Due Diligence Legislation, 30 April 2020, available under: https://corporatejustice.org/news/16806-commissioner-reynders-announces-eu-corporate-due-diligence-legislation (last accessed 10 September 2020), at 1:01:00 et seq. (During a webinar organized by the European Parliament Working Group on Responsible Business Conduct—discussing in part the potential for a mandatory due diligence requirements on the supply-chain of European businesses by 2021—Bart Vandewaetere, Vice President for Corporate Communications and Government Relations at Nestlé highlighted the voluntary partnerships that currently exist within the cocoa industry on issues relating to sustainability and human rights. He indicated a need for mandatory due diligence to ensure stability across the sector, and considered the cocoa industry to be an ideal starting place because of the small number of countries involved.).
- VOICE Network, Cocoa companies call for human rights and environmental due diligence requirements, 2 December 2019, available under: < https://www.voicenetwork.eu/2019/12/cocoa-companies-call-for-human-rights-and-environmental-due-diligence-requirements/ > (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- 67 Whoriskey, Chocolate Companies Say Their Cocoa is Certified, The Washington Post, 23 October 2019, available

C. Non-State Actors in International Legal Norms

The role of the cocoa industry in elevating the law is debatable, yet the impact of lobbying efforts and compliance initiatives can prove beneficial to the creation and adherence of mechanisms that take the multi-faceted nature of economic activities and their impacts in the international legal sphere more fully into account, particularly their impact on human rights initiatives. The transboundary nature of cocoa production and its interest to economically developed states potentially makes an integrated regulation of child labour practices possible, benefiting from cooperation among government, international organizations, and the industry. In that sense, it demonstrates the potential for elevating and integrating international legal norms—highlighting the necessity of a cooperative approach in order to be successfully enacted. As demonstrated above, previous attempts to eradicate the practices were met with failure when all interested actors were not committed to the initiatives.

In that respect, it has been undeniable for several decades that the scope of relevant actors in international law is expanding and transforming,⁶⁸ sometimes attributed to a matter of perspective.⁶⁹ The role of non-state actors in the development of international legal norms is a discussion already explored from several angles in the literature.⁷⁰ This role extends from intervention through *amicus curiae* submissions⁷¹ to more active roles in the creation and direction of framing the legal norms.⁷² The transforming relevance of private actors has frequently been linked to globalization in a general sense,⁷³ and more specifically, the transboundary movements of goods, people, pollution, capital, and disease.⁷⁴ In parallel, the debate has questioned the role of sovereignty in this changing landscape as a necessary discussion as other actors

- under: < https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2019/10/23/chocolate-companies-say-their-cocoa-is-certified-some-farms-use-child-labor-thousands-are-protected-forests/?itid=lk_interstitial_manual_20 > (last accessed 9 September 2020).
- See *inter alia*, *Vicuña*, Max Planck Yearbook of United Nations Law 5 (2001), 53 (53) ("international society is becoming increasingly institutionalized within a process of globalization. Yet it is by its very nature a decentralized society where individuals, corporations and international organizations, both public and non-governmental, have an expanding role to perform and a specific interest to pursue."); *Roberts/Sivakumaran*, Yale Journal of International Law 37 (2012), 107 (108) ("States jealously guard their lawmaking powers as a key attribute of statehood, making them generally resistant to the idea of sharing such power [in the creation of international law] with any nonstate actors."); *Charnovitz*, Michigan Journal of International Law 18 (1997), 183. With respect to environmental law, see for example, *Drumbl*, in: Fitzmaurice/Ong/Merkouris (eds.), Research Handbook on International Environmental Law, 3; *Boer*, in: Morgera/Kulovesi (eds.), Research Handbook on Natural Resources and International Law, 449 (449) (citing "environmental disasters, armed conflict, and post-colonial democratization processes" as contributing to the increasingly diverse actors in international law); *Marauhn*, in: Bodansky/Brunne/Hey (eds.), The Oxford Handbook of International Environmental Law, 738. With respect to the impact of non-governmental actors in human rights law, see for example, *Alston*, in: Alston (ed.), Non-State Actors and Human Rights, 3.
- 69 *D'Aspremont*, in: Noorthmann/Reinisch/Ryngaert (eds.), Non-State Actors in International Law, 9 (9) ("the role and status of non-state actors is a matter of paradigmatic choice. This choice is being informed by normative preconceptions and agendas as well as the possible awareness of the expectations of the community one seeks to convince.").
- Mbengue, in: d'Aspremont (ed), Participants in the Legal System, Multiple Perspectives on Non-State Actors in International Law, 372 (380) ("non-state actors contribute primarily to the definition of the issues that should be dealt with at the international level, even if the last word in terms of policy orientations might often belong to States or to international organisations."); Trevisanut, The International Journal of Marine and Coastal Law 29 (2014), 645 (647 et seq.) (discussing the role of private actors in the offshore energy sector and analysing "instances where there is a delegation of regulatory powers or implementation duties from the international or State level to the private actors.").
- 71 Hollis, Boston College International and Comparative Law Review 25 (2002), 235 (237); Shelton, American Journal of International Law 88 (1994), 611 (616).
- 72 Daugirdas, European Journal of International Law 31 (2020), 201 (201 et seq.).
- 73 Slaughter, A New World Order, 9; Stephan, Virginia Law Review 97 (2011), 1573 (1573).
- 74 *Krasner*, Sovereignty: Organized Hypocrisy, 3; *Hollis*, Boston College International and Comparative Law Review 25 (2002), 235 (236).

gain additional power and influence within the legal sphere.⁷⁵ States have remained the only subjects of international law, linked to their power to carry out legal obligations,⁷⁶ and thus extending responsibility under international law has been complicated.⁷⁷ The historical and foundational conceptualization of sovereign states' monopoly on creating the law and ensuring enforcement is limited in the era of growing sustainability initiatives and in the transboundary implementation of human rights initiatives.⁷⁸ This structure, and emerging structure of norms, can at times require cooperation and compliance from additional actors in the legal sphere, a recognition of the limitations of sovereignty that have already been noted.⁷⁹ The transboundary nature of many developing areas of international law means that to some extent, the state may lack the form and authority to effectively achieve the relevant goals. In that sense, the actors in the international sphere and those possessing the power to violate the standards established within the international legal order have expanded alongside the expansion of transnational wealth and power.⁸⁰

Additionally, while states have the power to provide for the enforcement of the law, 81 their power has proven to be limited in its ability to realize and effectuate these increasingly relevant legal frameworks. In particular, the ability to realize international human rights and environmental laws have been limited by domestic implementation and compliance as well as by the increasingly complicated role of private actors in the international sphere. 82 This demonstrates a significant structural deficiency where the law intends to elevate human rights standards, and thus requires reconsideration of the actors and sources in the creation, enactment, and enforcement of international law.

- 75 Jayasuriya, Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies 6 (1999), 425 (425) (considering sovereignty to be "no longer theoretically or empirically serviceable in the face of the internationalization of economic and social activity"); Goldsmith, Stanford Law Review 52 (2000), 959 (959) (identifying "economic globalization, transportation and communications advances, the rise of nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), and the spread of international human rights law" as key factors in the decline of power by nation-states).
- 76 St. Korowicz, American Journal of International Law 50 (1956), 533; Vázquez, Columbia Journal of Transnational Law 43 (2005), 927 (932 et seq.).
- 77 See for example, *Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co.*, 621 F.3d 111, 126-127 (2d Cir. 2010), aff'd, 569 U.S. 108 (2013); *Doe v. Exxon Mobil Corp.*, 654 F.3d 11, 82-85 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (Kavanaugh, J., dissenting in part), vacated on other grounds, 527 F. App'x 7 (D.C. Cir. 2013). See also, *Liste*, Transnational Legal Theory 5 (2017), 1; *Liste*, European Journal of International Relations 22 (2016), 217.
- 78 Tinker/Szasz, Proceedings of the Annual Meeting (American Society of International Law) 89 (1995), 177 (180) ("The role of non-governmental organizations or civil society in human rights and sustainable development policy and law is expanding, gaining legitimacy from, and in turn giving legitimacy to, international organizations. Projects on the level of local communities may be motivated by ideals and goals comparable to those of international organizations on the global level, offering a structure for change and global governance."); Hey, American Journal of International Law Unbound 112 (2016), 350 (352) (providing that in the era of the Anthropocene, "the [Universal Declaration of Human Rights] UDHR requires all duty-holders to consider the implications of 'community' in Article 29(1). Given our interconnected socioeconomic relations across the globe, the term 'community' should be understood as having global implications."). On the role of international organizations in the development and direction of treaties and arguably customary international law, see for example, Daugirdas, European Journal of International Law 31 (2020), 201 (201 et seq.) (arguing that international organizations have a role in the creation of customary international law); Stiles, in: Oxford Research Encyclopedias: International Studies.
- 79 In the environmental sense, see for example, *Lac Lanoux Arbitration* (France v. Spain), 16 November 1957, R.I.A.A. 281; *Pulp Mills on the River Uruguay* (Argentina v. Uruguay), Judgment of 20 April 2010, [2010] ICJ Rep. 977.
- 80 *Hey*, American Journal of International Law Unbound 112 (2016), 350 (354) ("Capturing the normative implications of this awareness is most challenging in view of the nature of the international (economic) order, in which socioeconomic rights have not been foregrounded equally with civil and political rights.").
- 81 Vázquez, Columbia Journal of Transnational Law 43 (2005), 927 (930).
- 82 Chandler, Corporate Liability: Human Rights and Modern Business, 1 (indicating that "Whether directly or indirectly, companies encounter problems which we would now classify under the generic heading of human rights. In their supply chains they can meet exploitative child labour, discrimination, risks to health and life, forced labour. The extractive industries can be involved in the spoliation of the environment and the destruction of communities. [...] Simply through their presence companies provide economic support and moral sanction to oppressive governments. If they lack appropriate policies and principles, companies risk the legitimate charge of complicity with oppression in pursuit of profit.").

These limitations are apparent in the failed legal initiatives to regulate the cocoa industry. In one sense, private actors are utilizing their economic and transborder power to motivate compliance and implementation of human, environmental, and social rights, and thereby impacting the creation and enactment of international law. On the other hand, there is resistance to a full liability of the corporate actions, and domestic legal systems are limited in their ability to extra-territorially implement the standards emerging from international law.

I. The Positive and Negative Roles of Other Actors

While the most recent examples from the EU standpoint show positive implications for private interests in the enactment of legislative change, the more limited perspective from the U.S. demonstrates the complicated responses to international legal framework—even within a single industry. Economic interests can at times impede the heightening of standards. In that respect, the role of private economic actors can be seen as a negative impact on the development of law; nonetheless, these actors remain influential in the decisions that sovereign states make when concluding agreements or other international commitments. It is, however, the positive sense, the heightening of social and environmental standards within international law that proves interesting in the upward development of the system—namely, this creation of the law and emerging standards of conduct by the heightening of requirements for responsibility. and progressive conduct that benefits the international community. Thus, the potential impacts by the cocoa industry in encouraging enactment of due diligence standards in the supply chain at the regional European level demonstrates a transition in the structural foundations of international law. Yet, the dynamics of this influence may remain misunderstood and rooted in traditional conceptualizations of the functioning of the international legal order.

II. Forms of Influence

The transboundary nature of economic activities and its impact on human rights, 85 has previously led to the creation of soft law mechanisms to approach these potential abuses by non-state actors. This enactment of soft law, and non-binding mechanisms such as the Harkin-Engel Protocol, may prove ineffective in achieving the desired goals but demonstrate the evolution of the law and the capability of input by non-state actors. Therefore, within this transforming

- 83 Daugirdas, European Journal of International Law 31 (2020), 201 (212) (noting with respect to the responsibility of international organizations in international law: "it is awkward to describe the capacity to incur international responsibility as an implied power of international organizations in fact, it is awkward to describe it as a 'power' at all. Rather, the capacity to incur responsibility for violations is better described as a consequence of international organizations' separate legal personalities the flipside of their capacity to have and enforce rights under international law, as affirmed in the Reparation for Injuries opinion.").
- 84 Roberts/Sivakumaran, Yale Journal of International Law 37 (2012), 107 (120) (indicating that non-state actors should be allowed to create international law as long as it advances the needs and interests of the international community as a whole).
- 85 De Brabandere, in: D'Aspremont (ed.), Participants in the Legal System, Multiple Perspectives on Non-State Actors in International Law, 268 (269) ("Debates on the role of non-state actors in the human rights sphere are at the very centre of the question whether the existing classical state-centric approach in international law and human rights law still is able to address the contemporary challenges of international society.").

influence on international law from non-state actors, ⁸⁶ discussion has been directed to the question of soft law in the international sphere. While contentious whether soft law achieves a status comparable to law, ⁸⁷ it retains the power to modify existing sources. ⁸⁸ Soft law mechanisms under the grander theme of International Corporate Social Responsibility have attempted to address these changing landscapes of the law and the changing roles of private actors. ⁸⁹ The United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights made an initial step towards the possibility of human rights standards integrated into private actors' behaviours. The influence of these initiatives is made apparent as due diligence standards have transformed into legislative initiatives. These voluntary provisions addressed the inability of international law to hold private actors liable for their failure to comply with human rights standards while conducting business outside the borders of their home jurisdiction. The OECD has similarly enacted Guidelines that act as a comprehensive code of conduct for multinational enterprises. ⁹⁰ The enactment of these soft law standards opens a broader perspective on the complexity of actors within the system, and in particular the capability of private actors' ability to effectuate positive impacts within these normative frameworks of law. ⁹¹

- 86 Charnovitz, Michigan Journal of International Law 18 (1997), 183 (285). In discussing the participation of civil society and non-governmental organizations in international law, Steve Charnovitz points to the failures in the United Nations system because of its age, framed by its role to recover the peaceful relationship between states after war. By placing NGOs as vital actors within this system, he considers it a step towards re-invigorating the role of international organizations to more actively approach the realities of globalization. This discussion extends well beyond the participation of civil society in the existing frameworks of international law, building on the system as it currently exists and extending it into working frameworks for the relevant issues currently confronting the global community. See also, Ridgeway, Merchant of Peace: Twenty Years of Business Diplomacy Through the International Chamber of Commerce, 391 (considering a need for reformulations "between the state and those institutions which carry the seeds of a new world society.").
- 87 *Besson*, in: Besson/Tasioulas (eds.), The Philosophy of International Law, 171 (indicating that soft law "is kind of an intermediary international legal outcome whose legality might be questioned and normativity *qua* law is almost inexistent.").
- 88 Castañda, Annuario Mexicano de Derecho International XIII (2013), 355 (392 et seq.).
- 89 Regarding the place of soft law generally in the creation of international legal norms, see for example, *Shelton*, American Journal of International Law 100 (2006), 291; *Boyle*, in: Evans (ed.), International Law, 122; *Klabbers*, Nordic Journal of International Law 65 (1996), 167. See generally, *Zerk*, Multinationals and Corporate Social Responsibility.
- 90 OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, 2011; OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Business Conduct, 2018.
- 91 Butler, American Journal of International Law 114 (2020), 189 (190-191) (indicating that there is an increasing tendency "for businesses to enforce international sanctions—or to implement or enforce international rules more generally—without first being required to do so by their home state" despite not having taken this role historically); Shaffer, Connecticut Law Review 42 (2009), 147.

D. Global Public Interest as a Conceptual Foundation

The changes in the actors' roles in international law can be understood through the lens of global public interests. As the focus of global law has transformed, the changes in focus on relevant actors has also been dislodged. The European Commission's legislative initiative to enforce human rights standards extraterritorially over European companies and the simultaneous movement by private actors to enact similar standards of behaviour by actors in the supply chain, 92 demonstrates how a synergy between these interests can produce binding implementation of standards.

Global public interests, as approached in international law, tend to produce controversy in the process of definition and even more so in application.⁹³ Its aspirational,⁹⁴ yet links issues such as social justice and equal access.⁹⁵ There are a handful of other terms that are often supplied to achieve similar ends—common interest,⁹⁶ common good, global public goods,⁹⁷ general welfare. From a domestic perspective, international trade law allows exceptions based on (domestic) public interest.⁹⁸ Its relevance in international investment law has been noted.⁹⁹ Its existence in international law can often be displaced to private international law and reverted to domestic law, yet it retains relevance in diverse areas of international law. There is a purpose for reverting to such a concept. In particular, international environmental law and international human rights laws are built on a sense of global public interest—the idea of a common interests for humanity, irrespective of borders¹⁰⁰—that extend beyond the common goods which they aim to protect. But its scope encompasses all private actors, meaning that global private interests fits into the complex structure of the global economy that also includes transnational actors. A global public interest allows for the incorporation of a more wide-ranging system of rights and values, as well as sense of morality in the recognition of those rights.

- 92 VOICE Network, Cocoa companies call for human rights and environmental due diligence requirements, 2 December 2019, available under: < https://www.voicenetwork.eu/2019/12/cocoa-companies-call-for-human-rights-and-environmental-due-diligence-requirements/ > (last accessed 10 September 2020).
- 93 Black's Law Dictionary defines public interest as "1. The general welfare of the public that warrants recognition and protection. 2. Something in which the public as a whole has a stake: esp., an interest that justifies governmental regulation." Black's Law Dictionary (3rd Pocket Edn., 2006).
- 94 Regarding its linkages with constitutionalism in international law, see for example, *Habermas*, The Divided West, 115 and 136.
- This can be understood as derived from its origins in the U.S. legal system, in which Justice Brandeis noted in 1905, "Instead of holding a position of independence between the wealthy and the people, prepared to curb the excesses of either, able lawyers have to a large extent allowed themselves to become adjuncts of great corporations and have neglected their obligation to use their powers for the protection of the people." *Brandeis*, American Law Review 39 (1905), 55.
- 96 Feichtner, in: Max Planck Encyclopedia of Public International Law.
- 97 Walker, Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies 23 (2016), 249; Kaul/Mendoza, in: Kaul et al. (eds.), Providing Global Public Goods: Managing Globalization, 78 (95); Augenstein, Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies 23 (2016), 225 (248) ("To the extent that global interdependencies in the production and consumption of public goods have blurred the state-based distinction between domestic and foreign politics, the global public goods approach provides presumptive justifications for state intervention to prevent 'market failures' in matters of common global concern. To be legitimate, such global assertations of state power must be accompanied by the recognition of the rights-based claims of those concerned to be affected by, and to therefore have a legitimate say in, the definition of the state's public good.").
- General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 1994, 15 April 1994, Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization, Annex 1A, 1867 U.N.T.S. 187, 33 I.L.M. 1153 (1994), Article XX(b) (allowing exceptions "necessary to protect human, animal or plant life or health"); *Harris/Moon*, Melbourne Journal of International Law 16 (2015), 1 (6) (considering the extension of a state's treaty-based human rights obligations beyond their territory in the context of WTO law).
- 99 Giest, Chicago Journal of International Law 18 (2017), 321 (333 et seq.); see generally, Kulick, Global Public Interest in International Investment Law.
- 100 See also, for example, *inter alia* Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, including the Moon and other Celestial Bodies, 10 October 1967, 610 United Nations Treaty Series 205.

Global public interest embodies a proactive approach to issues of universal human interest, including the environment, human rights, and development. It sits alongside global rule of law, illustrating the underlying objectives to be achieved by its implementation. ¹⁰¹ By casting the foundation as global public interests, it recognizes the role of public as well as private actors in identifying and advancing forward the objectives. The Global Compact, for example, responds to and recognizes one side of this conceptualization by incorporating principles derived from the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Labour Organization's Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, and the United Nations Convention Against Corruption. ¹⁰²

The growth of an idea of global public interest is limited by the shape of public international law, maintaining the right of the sovereign state to define and implement, and the foundation of international law in both consent¹⁰³ and reciprocity,¹⁰⁴ resulting in an exclusion of actors that both facilitate and denigrate the realization of these interests. It is the actions of private actors—namely their neglect of these higher ideals that have been formulated in human rights law and environmental law—that demonstrate the need for an interconnected public interest and mechanisms for the implementation of it.¹⁰⁵ The foundation rests on the intersections of law and morality and their implementation into the international legal sphere, in particular, their implementation in a manner which elevates the broader role of public interests.

From a parallel perspective, the movement towards systemic integration between international legal spheres may benefit by a closer look towards these non-state actors within this conception of global public interests. Steps forward towards greater integration are being made in human rights law and to some extent in international economic law, however, the systems still function with independence. Soft law has stepped in to resolve part of the limitations, and a more interesting angle on reaching closer systemic integration comes from the role of non-state actors, in particular private actors, in international law. While economic interests often over-shadow attempts in the private sector to uphold state-centric social, human rights, and environmental interests, the recent initiative by the cocoa industry to support and encourage the enactment of due diligence in the supply chain at the European level

- 101 Rijpkema, Transnational Legal Theory 4 (2013), 167 (192).
- 102 *Khan*, in: Max Planck Encyclopedia of International Law, Global Compact, para. 14 (noting the resistance to a regulatory regime and the resulting violations of the embodied principle, settling its successes on "the channels through which it provides facilitation and encourages policy dialogue, learning, local networks, and projects."); *Deva*, Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce 34 (2006), 107 (107).
- 103 See inter alia, Roberts/Sivakumaran, Yale Journal of International Law 37 (2012), 107 (109).
- 104 Simma, in: Max Planck Encyclopedia of Public International Law, Reciprocity, para. 2 ("From an objective point of view, in international law, reciprocity may in this context be understood as the status of a relationship between two or more States under which a certain conduct by one party is in one way or another juridically dependent upon that of the other party. Such conduct will in most instances, but not necessarily, amount to identical or equivalent treatment."). See also, Srivastava, Sri Lanka Journal of International Law 6 (1994), 243 (247).
- 105 This research intends to bring the fragmentation criticism already sufficiently approached in the literature, and move towards recognizing not only the fragmentation created by distinct systems of international law but fragmentation created by disregard for the roles of relevant actors.
- 106 Study Group of the International Law Commission, Report on the Fragmentation of International Law: Difficulties Arising from the Diversification and Expansion of International Law, finalized by Martti Koskenniemi, U.N. Doc. A/CN.4/L.682 (13 April 2006); *Peters*, International Journal of Constitutional Law 15 (2017), 671 (671).
- 107 Al-Dulimi and Montana Management Inc. v. Switzerland, 2016 European Court of Human Rights, para. 140 (App. No. 5809/08)
- See for example the use of counter-claims by responding states for violations of environmental standards: Perenco Ecuador Ltd. v. The Republic of Ecuador and Empresa Estatal Petróleos del Ecuador (Petroecuador), ICSID Case No. ARB/08/6, Award, 27 September 2019, para. 1023; Burlington Resources Inc. v. Republic of Ecuador, ICSID Case No. ARB/08/5, Decision on Ecuador's Counterclaims, 7 December 2017, para. 60; Urbaser SA and Consorcio de Aguas Bilbao Bizkaia, Bilbao Biskaia Ur Partzuergoa v. The Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/07/26, Award, 8 December 2016, para. 1151.

demonstrates a unique (and potentially growing) perspective on integrating various international commitments by states into a unified whole. It is through the utilization of these actors—with transboundary economic influence—that the various pieces of international law are able to be more holistically connected.

I. Private Actors in the Global Public Interest

Private actors have long been integrated into the protections provided by international law.¹⁰⁹ Diplomatic protection has ensured that private interests were protected under international law.¹¹⁰ Now, there is an increasingly significant role of private actors in the creation of international law.¹¹¹ *Anne-Marie Slaughter* has discussed the increasing relevance of private actors in the process of creating international law.¹¹² *Carlos Manuel Vázquez* refers to the current obligations of corporations in international law as indirect: reliant on the state to enforce standards.¹¹³ *Paul B. Stephan* has approached the privatization of international law.¹¹⁴ This advances in parallel with the changing role of states;¹¹⁵ the conceptualization of the law necessarily moves beyond an international law about the rights and obligations of states.¹¹⁶

The cocoa industry, as it impacts broader public interests on a global level, exposes compliance gaps inherent in the structure of international law. International frameworks intended to elevate standards of human rights and environmental standards are unable to accomplish their tasks when the private actors operate with such a global scope that domestic-level compliance of all aspects of the operation is impossible to achieve. The private actors appear initially as the cog in the wheels of transnational compliance, a system reliant on sovereign states. This, however, is an over-simplification of the reality of the structural limitations of

- 109 See for example, private actors seeking diplomatic protection under international law: *inter alia, Ahmadou Sadio Diallo* (Republic of Guinea v. Democratic Republic of Congo), Judgment, [2010] ICJ Reports 639; *Barcelona Traction, Light and Power Company Limited* (Belgium v. Spain), Judgment, Merits, Second Phase, [1970] ICJ Reports 3.
- 110 International Law Commission, Draft Articles on Diplomatic Protection (2006); Vermeer-Künzli, European Journal of International Law 18 (2007), 37 (38).
- With reference to soft law mechanisms, see for example, *Deng*, in: Biersteker/Spir/Sriram/Raffo (eds.), International Law and International Relations: Bridging Theory and Practice, 141 (141); *Abbott*, in: Biersteker/Spir/Sriram/Raffo (eds.), International Law and International Relations: Bridging Theory and Practice, 166 (167) (identifying the systematic distinctions of "privately generated soft law" in the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement).
- 112 Slaughter, A New World Order, 9 ("A major element of global governance, in turn, has been the rise of global policy networks, celebrated for their ability to bring together all public and private actors on issues critical to the global public interest [...] These projects focus on the many ways in which private actors now can and do perform government functions, from providing expertise to monitoring compliance with regulations to negotiating the substance of those regulations, both domestically and internationally."). See also, Bolton, Chicago Journal of International Law 1 (2000), 215 (217-218) ("the detachment from governments that makes international civil society so troubling, at least for democracies. [...] [T]he civil society idea actually suggests a 'corporativist' approach to international decision-making that is dramatically troubling for democratic theory because it posits 'interests' (whether NGOs or businesses) as legitimate actors along with popularly elected governments.").
- 113 *Vázquez*, Columbia Journal of Transnational Law 43 (2005), 927 (930) ("International law, as it exists today, includes norms that address the conduct of corporations and other non-state actors but, with very few exceptions, the norms do so by imposing an obligation on states to regulate non-state actors. Thus, for the most part, international law regulates such non-state actors indirectly.").
- 114 Stephan, Virginia Law Review 97 (2011), 1573 (1573) (noting boldly that "[t]he old understanding of international law as something created solely by and for sovereigns is defunct.").
- 115 *D'Amato*, Georgia Journal of International and Comparative Law 25 (1995-1996), 47; *Trimble*, Michigan Law Review 95 (1997), 1944; *Bolton*, Chicago Journal of International Law 1 (2000), 205 (217) (referring [critically] to the Landmines Convention as a turning point in the involvement of non-governmental actors—in this case, non-governmental organizations—in international diplomacy).
- 116 C.f. Janis, American Journal of International Law 78 (1984), 405 (409).

international law. The cocoa industry may demonstrate an alternative, operating alongside the existing frameworks in international law, for private-incentivized elevation of human rights standards and global public interests more generally. This industry is one of several examples of emerging private actors impacting the public sphere. On a theoretical level, this proposed transformation of perspectives interacts with conceptions of reciprocity and the morality of international law, once seen as upheld by the sovereign states, but now viewed distinctly as private economic power expands. The current developments in the industry, however, can be applied to re-image the shape of international law, using the pieces that exist and building on them to discover a more versatile and effective shape for the current reality—thereby, creating a system that integrates economic power and human rights obligations.

II. The Moral Implications of Private Influence

The limitations on regulation of economic actors are often rooted in perceptions of morality and justice in international legal systems which necessitate the sovereign state's role. States' inability to enact public interest standards, as epitomized by the limitations in international economic law to heighten human rights and environmental standards in an extra-territorial context, demonstrates a distinct moral deficit. The practical realities of the global economic system that incentivizes profits may under some circumstances simultaneously de-incentive public interests. Nonetheless, multinational corporations possess economic and social power that could allow for interests to be realized—the potential shape of which may be better understood by the cocoa industry's efforts. This approach respects the conflicting narratives of public interests, their interactions with state-led initiatives, and company self-interest.

This moral concern that arises out of the possible inputs of private actors into the system of international law can be divided into several perspectives. From one perspective, the increased activity of private actors within the systems of law that enact global public interests, could result in a lowering of authority of sovereign states while private actors are elevated. While the United Nations Guiding Principles of Business and Human Rights have attempted to neutralize these concerns by leaving enactment and enforcement in the hands of sovereign states, 117 the earlier Norms on the Responsibilities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises with Regard to Human Rights, largely a restatement of the existing soft law obligations, 118 led certain states to question the changes in authority. 119 These Norms were

- 117 United Nations Guiding Principles of Business and Human Rights (2011), Article 1, Commentary ("The State duty to protect is a standard of conduct. Therefore, States are not per se responsible for human rights abuse by private actors. However, States may breach their international human rights law obligations where such abuse can be attributed to them, or where they fail to take appropriate steps to prevent, investigate, punish and redress private actors' abuse. While States generally have discretion in deciding upon these steps, they should consider the full range of permissible preventative and remedial measures, including policies, legislation, regulations and adjudication. States also have the duty to protect and promote the rule of law, including by taking measures to ensure equality before the law, fairness in its application, and by providing for adequate accountability, legal certainty, and procedural and legal transparency.").
- 118 Weissbrodt/Kruger, American Journal of International Law 97 (2003), 901 (913).
- 119 United States Council for International Business, UN to Review Proposed Code on Human Rights for Business, 5
 March 2004, athttp://www.uscib.org/index.asp?documentlD=2846 (reflecting a concern that the norms would result in
 the privatization of human rights enforcement); Thomas Niles, Letters to the Editor, UN Code No Help to Companies,
 Financial Times, 17 December 2003, 18 ("However well intentioned, the draft norms would, if adopted, create a new
 international legal framework, cutting across virtually every area of business operation, with companies, rather than the
 governments that negotiated them, responsible for implementing international treaties and conventions. Not only would
 this create conflicting legal requirements for companies operating around the world, it would also divert attention from
 much-needed efforts to improve the capacity of national governments to implement and enforce existing human rights

controversial, and were rejected as over-stepping the traditional barriers that had led to the creation of the international system. From a second perspective, however, the increasingly relevant role of private actors in violating and upholding global public interests results in a certain necessity to integrate those actors into the system. Excluding the culpability of those actors results in a lowering of global public interests and also eliminates the potential for those standards to be heightened by the comprehensive role of private actors in crossing borders and operating globally.

E. Conclusion

The transforming power of private actors alongside the more robust enactment of human rights and physical realities of the planet demand a closer reflection towards the architectural exclusion of economic actors in an increasingly meaningful manner, a manner that elevates the global public interests that have become central to international law. This paper has attempted to consider how the cocoa industry sits at a cusp of enactment of global public interests, and the implications of their involvement in the advancement and enactment of relevant and binding international law. The capacity of economically powerful, transboundary economic actors to impact the enactment of law indicates an untapped potential for international law. Even if the motivation is derived from economic factors, private participation in the development of standards could be effectively harnessed towards a symmetrical creation of global public interest standards. This motivation by the cocoa industry, their ability to unite internally and externally, drives forward elements of enforcement of human rights and environmental law that have been difficult and thorny to achieve without a cooperative perspective. The nature of these economic actors crossing (at times, several) borders creates a unique opportunity to infiltrate the global system with recognized public interests—an infiltration that territorial sovereignty excludes. This research intends to further challenge the role of private actors in the international system. The input of private actors can be seen as both able to harm and able to elevate. The industryspecific impacts on the development of the law are one window to a better view of how positive impacts could manifest.

References

- ABBOTT, Kenneth W., Commentary: Privately Generated Soft Law in International Governance, in: Biersteker, Thomas J./Spiro, Peter J./Sriram, Chandra Lekha/Raffo, Veronica I. (eds.), International Law and International Relations: Bridging Theory and Practice, Oxon 2007, 166-177.
- AGNEW, John, Sovereignty Regimes: Territoriality and State Authority in Contemporary World Politics, Annals of the Association of American Geographers 95 (2005), 437-461.
- Albers, Susan, Why Do We Crave Chocolate So Much?, Psychology Today, 11 February 2014, available under: < https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/comfort-cravings/201402/why-dowe-crave-chocolate-so-much >.
- ALSTON, Philip, The "Not-a-Cat" Syndrome; Can the International Human Rights Regime Accommodate Non-State Actors, in: Alston, Philip (ed.), Non-State Actors and Human Rights, Oxford 2005, 3-36.
- ANTON, Donald K., Introductory Note to Protocol of 2014 to the Forced Labour Convention, 1930 (I.L.O.), International Legal Materials 53 (2014), 1227-1235.
- Augenstein, Daniel, To Whom It May Concern: International Human Rights Law and Global Public Goods, Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies 23 (2016), 225-248.
- BALCH, Oliver, US could become 'safe haven' for corporate abusers, activists warn, The Guardian, 5
 August 2020, available under: < https://www.the-guardian.com/global-development/2020/aug/05/us-could-become-safe-haven-for-corporate-abusers-activists-warn >.
- BARADARAN, Shima/BARCLAY, Stephanie, Fair Trade and Child Labor, Columbia Human Rights Law Review 43 (2011), 1-63.
- Basu, Kaushik, Child Labor: Cause, Consequence, and Cure, with Remarks on International Labor Standards, Journal of Economic Literature 37 (1999), 1083-1119.
- Bělohlávek, Alexander J., Public Policy and Public Interest in International Law and EU Law, in: Czech Yearbook of International Law (2012), 117-147.
- Bendel, Justine, Bringing Deforestation before an International Court?, EJIL:Talk!, 6 December 2019, available under: < https://www.ejiltalk.org/bringing-deforestation-before-an-international-court/>.
- Besson, Samantha, Theorizing the Sources of International Law, in: Besson, Samantha/Tasioulas, John (eds.), The Philosophy of International Law, Oxford 2010, 163-185.

- BOER, Ben, International Law-Making, in: Morgera, Elisa/Kulovesi, Kati (eds.), Research Handbook on International Law and Natural Resources, Cheltenham 2016, 449-472.
- Bolin-Hort, Per, Work, Family, and the State: Child Labor and the Organization of Production in the British Cotton Industry, 1780-1920, Lund 1989.
- BOLTON, John R., Should We Take Global Governance Seriously?, Chicago Journal of International Law 1 (2000), 205-221.
- BOYLE, Alan, Soft Law in International Law-Making, in: Evans, Malcolm D. (ed.), International Law, 3rd edition, Oxford 2010, 122-140.
- Branders, L., The Opportunity in the Law, American Law Review 39 (1905), 55-63.
- Brown, Martin/Christiansen, Jens/Philips, Peter, The Decline of Child Labor in the US Fruit and Vegetable Canning Industry: Law or Economics, Business History Review 66 (1992), 723-770.
- CASTAÑDa, Fabián Augusto Cárdena, A Call for Rethinking the Sources of International Law: Soft Law and the Other Side of the Coin, Annuario Mexicano de Derecho Internacional XIII 6 (2013), 355-403.
- CHANDLER, Geoffrey, Corporate Liability: Human Rights and the Modern Business, Keynote address, Conference organized by JUSTICE and Sweet & Maxwell, 12 June 2006, available at < 198.170.85.29/Chandler-keynote-address-Justice-12-Jun-2006.doc >.
- Charnovitz, Steve, Two Centuries of Participation: NGOs and International Governance, Michigan Journal of International Law 18 (1997), 183-286.
- CHUANG, Janie, Beyond a Snapshot: Preventing Human Trafficking the Global Economy, Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies 13 (2006), 137-163.
- D'Amato, Anthony, Human Rights as Part of Customary International Law: A Plea for Change of Paradigms, Georgia Journal of International and Comparative Law 25 (1995-1996), 47-98.
- D'ANGELO, Lorenzo, The Art of Governing Contingency: Rethinking the Colonial History of Diamond Mining in Sierra Leone, Historical Research 89 (2016), 136-157.
- D'ASPREMONT, Jean, Non-State Actors and the Social Practice of International Law, in: Noorthmann, Math/Reinisch, August/Ryngaert, Cedric (eds.), Non-State Actors in International Law, Oxford 2015, 9-32.
- DAUGIRDAS, Kristina, International Organizations and the Creation of Customary International Law, The European Journal of International Law 31 (2020), 201-233.

- DE BRABANDERE, Eric, Non-state Actors and Human Rights: Corporate Responsibility and the Attempts to Formalize the Role of Corporations as Participants in the International Legal System, in: D'Aspremont, Jean (ed.), Participants in the Legal System, Multiple Perspectives on Non-State Actors in International Law, London 2011, 268-283.
- Deng, Francis M., The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement and the Development of International Norms, in: Biersteker, Thomas J./Spiro, Peter J/Sriram, Chandra Lekha/Raffo, Veronica I. (eds.), International Law and International Relations: Bridging Theory and Practice, Oxon 2007, 141-165.
- Deva, Surya, Global Compact: A Critique of the U.N.'s "Public-Private" Partnership for Promoting Corporate Citizenship, Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce 34 (2006), 107-151.
- DEVLAEMINCK, David J., The Legal Principle of Reciprocity in the Peaceful Management of Transboundary Watercourses: The Duty to Cooperate, Rules of Procedure and Self-Help Measures, Natural Resources Journal 59 (2019), 301-320.
- DRUMBL, Mark, Actors and Law-Making in International Environmental Law, in: Fitzmaurice, Malgosia/Ong, David/Merkouris, Panos (eds.), Research Handbook on International Environmental Law, Cheltenham 2010, 1-23.
- EHRENBERG, Daniel S., The Labor Link: Applying the International Trading System to Enforce Violations of Forced and Child Labor, Yale Journal of International Law 20 (1995), 361-417.
- FEICHTNER, Isabel, Community Interest, in: Max Planck Encyclopedia of Public International Law, electronic edition.
- GIAMPETRO-MEYER, Andrea/BROWN, Timothy/KUBA-SEK, Nancy, The Exploitation of Child Labor: An Intractable International Problem, Loyola of Los Angeles International and Comparative Law Review 16 (1994), 657-674.
- GIEST, Alison, Interpreting Public Interest Provisions in International Investment Treaties, Chicago Journal of International Law 18 (2017), 321-352.
- HABERMAS, Jürgen, The Divided West, Cambridge 2006.
- HARRIS, Rachel/Moon, Gillian, GATT Article XX and Human Rights: What Do We Know from the First 20 Years?, Melbourne Journal of International Law 16 (2015), 1-52.
- HEY, Ellen, The Universal Declaration of Human Rights in "The Anthropocene", American Journal of International Law Unbound 112 (2016), 350-354.

- HINCH, Ronald, Chocolate, Slavery, Forced Labour,
 Child Labour and the State, in: Gray, Allison/
 Hinch, Ronald (eds.), A Handbook of Food
 Crime: Immoral and Illegal Practices in the Food
 Industry and What To Do About Them, Bristol
 2018, 77-92.
- Hollis, Duncan B., Why State Consent Still Matters Non-State Actors, Treaties, and the Changing Sources of International Law, Berkeley Journal of International Law 23 (2005), 137-174.
- Private Actors in Public International Law: Amicus Curiae and the Case for the Retention of
 State Sovereignty, Boston College International
 and Comparative Law Review 25 (2002), 235255.
- HUMBERT, Franziska, The Challenge of Child Labour in International Law, Cambridge 2009.
- Janis, Mark W., Jeremy Bentham and the Fashioning of "International Law", American Journal of International Law 78 (1984), 405-417.
- Jayasuriya, Kanishka, Globalization, Law and the Transformation of Sovereignty: The Emergence of Global Regulatory Governance, Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies 6 (1999), 425-455.
- KHAN, Irene, Understanding Corporate Complicity: Extending the Notion Beyond Existing Laws, Amnesty International Index: POL 34/001/2006.
- KARAVIAS, Markos, Corporate Obligations Under International Law, Oxford 2013.
- KAUFMANN, Christine, Globalisation and Labour Rights: The Conflict Between Core Labour Rights and International Economic Law, Oxford 2007.
- KAUL, Inge/MENDOZA, Ronald, Advancing the Concept of Public Goods, in: Kaul, Inge/Conceição, Pedro/Le Goulven, Katell/Mendoza,Ronald U. (eds.), Providing Global Public Goods: Managing Globalization, Oxford 2003, 78-111.
- KHAMSI, Kathryn, Introductory Note to 2010 International Cocoa Agreement, International Legal Materials 50 (2011), 669-698.
- KLABBERS, Jan, The Redundancy of Soft Law, Nordic Journal of International Law 65 (1996), 167-182.
- Krajewski, Markus/Faracik, Beata/Methven
 O'Brien, Claire/Martin-Ortega, Olga, Briefings: Human Rights Due Diligence Legislation
 Options for the EU, June 2020, available
 under: < https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2020/603495/EXPO_
 BRI(2020)603495_EN.pdf >.
- Krasner, Stephen D., Sovereignty: Organized Hypocrisy, Princeton 1999.
- Ku, Julian G., The Curious Case of Corporate Liability under the Alien Tort Statute: A Flawed System of Judicial Lawmaking, Virginia Journal of International Law 51 (2011), 353-395.
- KULICK, Andreas, Global Public Interest in International Investment Law, Cambridge 2012.

- LATIF, R., Chocolate/Cocoa and Human Health: A Review, Netherlands Journal of Medicine 71 (2013), 63-68.
- Liste, P., Transnational Human Rights Litigation and Territorialised Knowledge: Kiobel and the 'Politics of Space', Transnational Legal Theory 5 (2014), 1-19.
- Geographical Knowledge at Work: Human Rights Litigation and Transnational Territoriality, European Journal of International Relations 22 (2016), 217-239.
- MAHLER, V.A., Britain, the European Community, and the Developing Commonwealth: Dependence, Interdependence, and the Political Economy of Sugar, International Organization 35 (1981), 467-492.
- MARAUHN, Thilo, Changing Role of the State, in: Bodansky, Daniel/Brunnee, Jutta/Hey, Ellen (eds.), The Oxford Handbook of International Environmental Law, Oxford 2007, 727-748.
- Martin-Ortega, Olga/Methven O'Brien, Claire, Mandatory Human Rights Due Diligence:
 Options of Monitoring, Enforcing and Remedy under the Future EU Legislation, EJIL:Talk!, 1
 September 2020, available under: < https://www.ejiltalk.org/mandatory-human-rights-due-diligence-options-of-monitoring-enforcing-and-remedy-under-the-future-eu-legislation/?utm_source=mailpoet&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=ejil-talk-newsletter-post-title 2 >.
- MBENGUE, Makane Moïse., Non-state Actors in International Environmental Law, A Rousseauist Approach, in; d'Aspremont, Jean (ed), Participants in the Legal System, Multiple Perspectives on Non-State Actors in International Law, London 2011, 372-389.
- MINTZ, S.W., Sweetness and Power: The Place of Sugar in Modern History, London 1985.
- MITCHELL, D., Sugar Policies: Opportunity for Change, World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 322 (2004).
- NURK, Eha/REFSUM, Helga/DREVON, Christian A./
 TELL, LL, Grethe S./NYGAARD, Harald A./ENGEDAL, Knut/SMITH, A. David, Intake of Flavonoidrich Wine, Tea, and Chocolate by Elderly Men
 and Women is Associated with Better Cognitive
 Test Performance, The Journal of Nutrition 139
 (2009), 120-127.
- Peters, Anne, The Refinement of International Law: From Fragmentation to Regime Interaction and Politicization, International Journal of Constitutional Law 15 (2017), 671-704.
- RIDGEWAY, George L., Merchant of Peace: Twenty Years of Business Diplomacy Through the International Chamber of Commerce, New York 1938.
- RIJPKEMA, Peter, The Concept of a Global Rule of Law, Transnational Legal Theory 4 (2013), 167-196.

- ROBERTS, Anthea/SIVAKUMARAN, Sandesh, Lawmaking by Nonstate Actors: Engaging Armed Groups in the Creation of International Humanitarian Law, Yale Journal of International Law 37 (2012), 107-152.
- Ryngaert, Cedric, Non-State Actors in International Law: A Rejoinder to Professor Thirlway, Netherlands International Law Review 64 (2017), 166-162.
- Territory in the Law of Jurisdiction: Imagining Alternatives, Netherlands Yearbook of International Law 47 (2016), 49-82.
- RYNGAERT, Cedric/ZOETEKOUW, M., The End of Territory? The Re-Emergence of Community as a Principle of Jurisdictional Order in the Internet Era, in: Kohl, Uta (ed.), The Net and the State: Multidisciplinary Perspectives on Internet Governance, Cambridge 2017, 185-201.
- SCHRAGE, Elliot J./EWING, Anthony P., The Cocoa Industry and Child Labour, The Journal of Corporate Citizenship 18 (2005), 99-112.
- SCHURR, Laura Antonia Roberta, Corporate Liability for Human Rights Violations in the Cocoa Supply Chain and the Responsibilities of the Swiss Chocolate Industry, Journal of Transnational Legal Issues 2 (2014), 1-32.
- Shaffer, Gregory C., How Business Shapes Law: A Socio-Legal Framework, Connecticut Law Review 42 (2009), 147-184.
- SHELTON, Dinah, Normative Hierarchy in International Law, American Journal of International Law 100 (2006), 291-323.
- The Participation of Nongovernmental Organizations in International Judicial Proceedings, American Journal of International Law 88 (1994), 611-642.
- SIMMA, Bruno, Reciprocity, in: Max Planck Encyclopedia of Public International Law, electronic edition.
- Bilateralism and Community Interest in the Law of State Responsibility, in: Dinstein, Yoram/ Tabory, Mala (eds.), International Law at a Time of Perplexity: Essays in Honour of Shabtai Rosenne, Leiden 1989, 821-844.
- SLAUGHTER, Anne-Marie, A New World Order, Princeton 2004.
- SMIT, Lise/BRIGHT, Claire/McCorquodale, Robert/BAUER, Matthias/Deringer, Hanna/Baeza-Breinbauer, Daniela/Torres-Cortés, Francisca/Alleweldt, Frank/Kara, Senda/Salinier, Camille, Study on Due Diligence Requirements through the Supply Chain, Final Report for the European Commission, available under: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/8ba0a8fd-4c83-11ea-b8b7-01aa75ed71a1/language-en>.
- St. Korowicz, Marek, The Problem of International Personality of Individuals, American Journal of International Law 50 (1956), 533-562.

- STACK, Marie M./ACKRILL, Rob/BLISS, Martin, Sugar Trade and the Role of Historical Colonial Linkages, European Review of Agricultural Economics 46 (2019), 79-108.
- STEPHAN, Paul B., Privatizing International Law, Virginia Law Review 97 (2011), 1573-1664.
- THIRLWAY, Hugh, The Sources of International Law, in: Evans, Malcolm (ed.), International Law, 3rd edition, Oxford 2010, 95-121.
- Non-state Actors: A Response to Professor Ryngaert, Netherlands International Law Review 64 (2017), 141-153.
- TINKER, Catherine/SZASZ, Paul, The Role of Non-State Actors in International Law-Making During the UN Decade of International Law, Proceedings of the Annual Meeting (American Society of International Law), Structures of World Order 89 (1995), 177-185.
- TREVISANUT, Seline, The Role of Private Actors in Offshore Energy: Shifting Models of Participation, International Journal of Marine and Coastal Law 29 (2014), 645-665.
- TRIMBLE, Phillip, Globalization, International Institutions and the Erosion of National Sovereignty, Michigan Law Review 95 (1997), 1944-1969.
- Van Wensem, Joke, Overview of Scientific Evidence for Chocolate Health Benefits, Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management 11 (2015), 176-177.
- VÁZQUEZ, Carlos Manuel, Direct vs. Indirect Obligations of Corporations Under International Law, Columbia Journal of Transnational Law 43 (2005) 927-959.
- Vermeer-Künzli, Annemarieke, As If: The Legal Fiction in Diplomatic Protection, The European Journal of International Law 18 (2007), 37-68.
- VICUÑA, Francisco Orrego, Individuals and Non-State Entities before International Courts and Tribunals, Max Planck Yearbook of United Nations Law 5 (2001), 53-66.
- WALKER, Neil, Human Rights and Global Public Goods: The Sound of One Hand Clapping?, Indiana Journal of Global Legal Studies 23 (2016), 249-265.
- Weiner, Myron, The Child and the State in India: Child Labor and Education Policy in Comparative Perspective, Princeton 1991.
- Weissbrodt, David/Kruger, Muria, Norms on the Responsibilities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises with Regard to Human Rights, American Journal of International Law 97 (2003), 901-922.
- WHITTEMORE, LeeAnn, The Sweet, Sweet Science of Chocolate: Why Does It Taste So Good?, The Manual, 14 May 2019, available under: < https://www.themanual.com/food-and-drink/science-of-chocolate-why-it-tastes-good/>.

- Whoriskey, Peter/Siegel, Rachel, Cocoa's Child Laborers, The Washington Post, 5 June 2020, available under: https://www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/2019/business/hershey-nestle-mars-chocolate-child-labor-west-africa/.
- Whoriskey, Peter, Chocolate Companies Ask for a Taste of Government Regulation, The Washington Post, 31 December 2019, available under: https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2019/12/31/chocolate-companies-ask-taste-government-regulation/
- Chocolate Companies Say Their Cocoa is Certified, The Washington Post, 23 October 2019, available under: < https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2019/10/23/chocolate-companies-say-their-cocoa-is-certified-some-farms-use-child-labor-thousands-are-protected-forests/?itid=lk interstitial manual 20 >.
- ZERK, Jennifer A., Multinationals and Corporate Social Responsibility, Cambridge 2006.

Rechtswissenschaftliche Beiträge der Hamburger Sozialökonomie

ISSN 2366-0260 (print) / ISSN 2365-4112 (online)

Bislang erschienene Hefte

Heft 1

Felix Boor, Die Yukos-Enteignung. Auswirkungen auf das Anerkennungs- und Vollstreckungssystem aufgehobener ausländischer Handelsschiedssprüche

Heft 2

Karsten Nowrot, Sozialökonomie als disziplinäre Wissenschaft. Alternative Gedanken zur sozialökonomischen Forschung, Lehre und (Eliten-) Bildung

Heft 3

Florian Hipp, Die kommerzielle Verwendung von frei zugänglichen Inhalten im Internet

Heft 4

Karsten Nowrot, Vom steten Streben nach einer immer wieder neuen Weltwirtschaftsordnung. Die deutsche Sozialdemokratie und die Entwicklung des Internationalen Wirtschaftsrechts

Heft 5

Karsten Nowrot, Jenseits eines abwehrrechtlichen Ausnahmecharakters. Zur multidimensionalen Rechtswirkung des Widerstandsrechts nach Art. 20 Abs. 4 GG

Heft 6

Karsten Nowrot, Grundstrukturen eines Beratungsverwaltungsrechts

Heft 7

Karsten Nowrot, Environmental Governance as a Subject of Dispute Settlement Mechanisms in Regional Trade Agreements

Heft 8

Margaret Thornton, The Flexible Cyborg: Work-Life Balance in Legal Practice

Heft 9

Antonia Fandrich, Sustainability and Investment Protection Law. A Study on the Meaning of the Term Investment within the ICSID Convention

Heft 10

Karsten Nowrot, Of "Plain" Analytical Approaches and "Savior" Perspectives: Measuring the Structural Dialogues between Bilateral Investment Treaties and Investment Chapters in Mega-Regionals

Heft 11

Maryna Rabinovych, The EU Response to the Ukrainian Crisis: Testing the Union's Comprehensive Approach to Peacebuilding

Heft 12

Marita Körner, Die Datenschutzgrundverordnung der Europäischen Union: Struktur und Ordnungsprinzipien

Heft 13

Christin Krusenbaum, Das deutsche Krankenversicherungssystem auf dem Prüfstand – Ist die Bürgerversicherung die ultimative Alternative?

Heft 14

Marita Körner, Age Discrimination in the Context of Employment

Heft 15

Avinash Govindjee/ Judith Brockmann/ Manfred Walser, Atypical Employment in an International Perspective

Heft 16

Cara Paulina Gries, Gesetzliche Barrieren bei der Integration von geduldeten Flüchtlingen in den deutschen Arbeitsmarkt

Heft 17

Karsten Nowrot, Aiding and Abetting in Theorizing the Increasing Softification of the International Normative Order - A Darker Legacy of Jessup's *Transnational Law?*

Heft 18

Matti Riedlinger, Das CSR-Richtlinie-Umsetzungsgesetz: Implementierung von Corporate Social Responsibility Berichtspflichten in nationales Recht

Heft 19

Karsten Nowrot, "Competing Regionalism" vs. "Cooperative Regionalism": On the Possible Relations between Different Regional Economic Integration Agreements

Heft 20

Karsten Nowrot, The 2017 EU Conflict Minerals Regulation: An Effective European Instrument to Globally Promote Good Raw Materials Governance?

Heft 21

Karsten Nowrot, The Other Side of Rights in the Processes of Constitutionalizing International Investment Law: Addressing Investors' Obligations as a New Regulatory Experiment

Heft 22

Karsten Nowrot/Emily Sipiorski, Arbitrator Intimidation and the Rule of Law: Aspects of Constitutionalization in International Investment Law

Heft 23

Karsten Nowrot, European Republicanism in (Legitimation) Action: Public Participation in the Negotiation and Implementation of EU Free Trade Agreements

Heft 24

Karsten Nowrot, Non-Recognized Territorial Entities in the Post-Soviet Space from the Perspective of WTO Law: Outreach to Outcasts?

Heft 25

Marita Körner, Beschäftigtendatenschutz im Geltungsbereich der DSGVO

Heft 26

Vladlena Lisenco/Karsten Nowrot, The 2018 Pridnestrovian Law on State Support for Investment Activities: Some Thoughts on an Investment Statute in a Frozen Conflict Situation

Heft 27

Marita Körner, Die Rolle des Betriebsrats im Beschäftigtendatenschutz

Heft 28

Nadia Kornioti/Karsten Nowrot, Looking Back to Learn for the Future?: The Work of the ILA on the Issue of Human Rights in Times of Emergency in the 1980s

Heft 29

Marita Körner, Der Betriebsrat als datenschutzrechtlich verantwortliche Stelle

Heft 30

Karsten Nowrot/Emily Sipiorski, (De-) Constitutionalization of International Investment Law?: Narratives from Africa

Heft 31

Felix Boor, Die beschleunigte Landreform Mugabes vor deutschen Gerichten - der "Hamburger Kaffeestreit"

Heft 32

Karsten Nowrot, Corporate Legal and Social Responsibility as an Issue of International Investment Agreements: A Suitable Role Model for the WTO Legal Order?

Heft 33

Julius Adler, Der Grundsatz der "Full Protection and Security" im internationalen Investitionsschutzrecht - Bedeutung in Theorie und Praxis

Heft 34

Sebastian Barth, Gefangenenarbeit: Meilen- oder Stolperstein der Resozialisierung? Eine rechtliche Betrachtung von Gefangenenarbeit in Bezug auf das Resozialisierungsziel

Heft 35

Karsten Nowrot, Das gesellschaftliche Transformationspotential der Sustainable Development Goals: Völkerrechtliche Rahmenbedingungen und außerrechtliche Nachhaltigkeitsvoraussetzungen

Heft 36

Karsten Nowrot, Illegal Trade in Wild Animals and Derived Products during Armed Conflicts: What Role for International Wildlife Agreements?

Heft 37

Emily Sipiorski, The Seabed and Scientific Legitimization of International Law: Transforming Narratives of Global Justice

Heft 38

Matti Riedlinger, Mitwirkung des Betriebsrats im Insolvenzplanverfahren

Heft 39

Karsten Nowrot, "Long Live Deglobalization" vs. "Free Trade Saves Lives": Die Rolle des Internationalen Wirtschaftsrechts in Zeiten der Corona-Krise